
This response from Cllrs Strong, Armour, MacLean, Breslin, MacDonald and Blair is in response to the 

reply from Mr Sneddon. The reply from Mr Sneddon has been inserted below each of our questions 

in blue and this response is in orange. We are now even more concerned about the way the ADP 

tender has been handled as will be seen below. 

This paper is from Cllrs Strong, Armour, MacLean, Breslin, MacDonald and Blair as a follow up to the 

discussion on the ADP at the audit committee on Friday 19 June. 

We feel there is still information that needs to be made available; we have continuing concerns 

about the contract and we have some questions that still need asked. On the questions, the 3 of us 

on the audit committee did not have time to ask all of them at the meeting and some of the ones we 

did ask had inadequate replies or replies that begged more questions. The minute states that we 

noted the points made and noted the contents of the report. Noting does not mean we are satisfied 

with the points made or the report. 

Since this matter is to go to the PRS committee in August, and since some of the questions relate to 

the performance of the contract, it is timely to follow last week’s discussion up now. 

We would like to have sight of the following information please: 

1. The internal review as requested at the audit committee meeting. 

2. The external legal advice, both what was asked and what the reply was. 

I treated your requests for sight of the internal review document prepared by the 

Council's Legal Services Manager and the external legal advice, both what was 

asked and the reply, as a request for information in terms of the Freedom of 

Information (Scotland) Act 2002 (FOISA). 

 
I can advise that I have refused your request, in terms of section 36(1) of 

FOISA because what you have requested is information in respect of 

which a claim to confidentiality of communications  could be maintained in 

legal proceedings. 

 
Among the types of communication that fall into this category are those covered by 

legal advice privilege, which covers communications between lawyer and client in 

which legal advice is sought or given. 

 
If a request is refused under this section of FOISA, then consideration has to be 

given to the public interest test. I accept that there is a public interest in enabling 

people to see advice, to provide reassurance  and contribute to public debate 

and there is also a public interest in allowing legal advice to be tested. 

 
That said, it has been long recognised by the Courts that there is strong public 

interest in maintaining the right to confidentiality of communications between legal 

adviser and client on administration of justice grounds and having considered the 

position here, I am of the view that the public interest in maintaining the exemption 

outweighs the public interest in the information being disclosed. 
 
We have taken advice on this matter. First of all, we did not submit an FOI. Secondly, while we 

accept that there may be a case for legal advice not being circulated out with the council, we take 

the view that councillors are absolutely entitled to see it. We ask that you reconsider your position 



as a matter of urgency. We already have the internal review from another source so the only 

outstanding matter is the legal advice so we wish to see this plus what was asked. 

The questions we ask are as follows, in no particular order: 

1 We do not think there was much ambiguity about the amount of housing support required 

since the ITT was very specific about this, namely the delivery of 805 hours per month in 

years 1 and 2 with about 350 referrals per annum. This equates to close to 20,000 hours of 

housing support over 2 years. The ITT identified the hours that were needed,  presumably 

based on historical needs in each area. 

The only possible ambiguity in our minds was when the review of this service was to take 

place. However, the review was intended to provide a “more equitable” service across Argyll 

& Bute, not remove housing support altogether as has happened. The text below is taken 

directly from the Audit Scotland report, the highlighting is ours: 

 
Immediately following commencement of the contract, Addaction Scotland carried out 
an assessment of the needs of all known service users and concluded that no 
service users required housing support services at this time.  
 

Housing support has not been removed from the contract but should only be 

provided to those whose formal assessment identifies it is needed. At the 

time, no service users were identified as needing care at home housing 

support. If it is identified as a need in future, it would be provided under the 

contract by Addaction, directly or indirectly 

This was not what the ITT stated and we fail to see how what was in the ITT could be almost 

fully reversed so soon after the contract started. In addition, we have had sight of a letter 

Addaction sent to someone they refused a TUPE transfer to, which stated “this service 

(housing support) has not been commissioned….and is out of scope”. Moreover the 

Addaction letter in question did not relate to the ITT other than in one respect. It is quite 

clear that their idea of what they are delivering varies materially from the ITT. The table 

below identifies the significant and material differences between Addaction and the ITT. 

 



Our questions are: 

a. Did the 805 hours per month come from what had historically been delivered? 

Yes, this was an average over the previous year The ITT stated this was 100% of 

the work. 

b. The ITT also put a value to these hours in years 1 and 2. That value was £475,139 or an 

average of £49 per hour. What was the figure if this  is not correct? 

The figure for Housing Support was £142,485p.a. This is not what was stated in the 

ITT. The ITT was clear that the figure for this service was £475,139. 

c. Is it the case that the whole contract sum of £475k was allocated to housing support 

services in the ITT as appears to be the case from the tables in the ITT? 

No the contract value also included counselling and community rehabilitation 

service costs. That is correct but the ITT also stated that all the hours were to be 

housing support. 

d. We were told that the successful contractor identified that there was no need for 

housing support. Can we see a breakdown by area of the number of service users 

contacted by the contractor and the dates when this work was done? 

Number of 

Service Users 

That Contacted 

Addaction 

Area Dates 

15 Cowal and Bute 06/12/15-10/03/15 

6 Oban, Lorn & Isles 07/01/15-13/04/15 

1 Mid Argyll, Kintyre & lslay 29/01/15 

 

Please note - 86% of the above services users, received a review within the 

first month of the contract commencing. Further, please note the existing 

providers were requested to provide Addaction contact details to their 

existing client group and the wider public communication advising potential 

service users of how to access the service. The 86% figure shows that only 18 
people were actually contacted before the decision was made and the contract varied, 

almost all of them from the one area. We doubt the validity of this exercise given the 

lack of geographical spread. We are aware of service users who require housing support 
in a number of areas of Argyll & Bute. 

 

e. Has the contract value been revised downwards in value by the same sum as the reply to 

question b above? 

No, this has not been revised down as the full budget is provided to deliver a 

full Recovery Oriented System of Care not just individual component parts 

such as housing support (see below for more detail) 

The full contract value was written explicitly based on housing support hours and referrals. 

The intention was to deliver ROSC but this is simply an approach, nothing else.  The way the 



ITT is written states clearly that the amounts allotted to each area are based on housing 

support hours and referrals. There is no dubiety about this.  The ITT would have been the 

basis for the bids simply because that is what was stated in the ITT.  The removal of this, in 

whole or in part, is inexplicable.  

 

f. If the contract value has not been revised downwards, can this be explained please? 

A service that follows the recovery journey model was commissioned in line 

with Scottish Government guidance.  This model provides individually targeted 

support, specific to service user's needs. Unlike the previous approach, 

whereby providers focussed on individual elements of recovery, the current 

provider has the capacity to support people at every stage of the recovery 

journey. 

This requires a multi skilled staff group trained in a wide range of addiction 

interventions and ensures continuity of provision for service users from a 

single point of contact. The contract also has the advantage of the provider 

being a leading nationally recognised agency in this field, with close links with 

the Scottish Government. 
 

It follows that commissioning  a service of this quality, which is adequately 

resourced, requires a greater financial commitment than the comparatively 

basic requirements of Housing Support. 

 
We understand that the ROSC approach has been the basis of what was delivered for some 
number of years notwithstanding the method used by the council to allocate funding and for 

what services. 
 

2 The contract reporting was to be done by individual areas. Can we see the statistics 

for: 

a. the first 3 months of 2015 split by area compared to the first 3 months of 2014? 

The provider received 72 new referrals in the first quarter 1/1/15-31/3/15. 
 
We understand that 60 or so of this 72 came as transfers from Kaleidoscope. This should 
be easy to confirm. 
 

The reporting of this data was not split by locality until May 2015. 

T h i s  w a s  a  b r e a c h  o f  t h e  c o n t r a c t ,  s e e  I T T  p a r a  1 7 . 2  The figure for the 

same period in 2014 was 50 new referrals. See above re transfers 

 

b. the first 6 months on the same basis as soon as these are available please? 

 

This can be provided after the next contract supplier management meeting 

and following presentation to the ADP Executive Group on 24 August 2015. 

Please note that Cllrs MacDonald and Breslin were denied the opportunity to attend 



the last meeting of this group using a technicality and ignoring one of Audit Scotland’s 

recommendations about openness and transparency. 

 

3 What involvement of elected members was there in the decision to put this out to 

tender, given that this tender, like any other, exposes the council to a degree of risk? 

What we wish to know is what was the approval process within the council prior to 

the tender being issued? 

This is a partnership tender that was facilitated by the council -the 

agreements regarding the tender process were made by the ADP not the 

council. The previous SLAs were due to terminate and were extended to 

allow for a retendering.  

 

We take this to mean there was no internal approval process at all. The risk associated 

with this still rests with the council and since the ADP has no legal personality, all 

liability is ours alone. We do not believe this is acceptable. 

 

We understand that the previous SLAs were renewed on an annual basis for a number 

of years so the fact they were terminating does not in itself lead to a tender being 

issued. We also understand that not all partners agreed to this. 

 

4 Were partner agencies fully consulted about the tender and did they agree? 

If you mean by partner agencies- the existing service providers, they were 

members of the delivery group, they had representation on the Executive 

Group. Three representatives were nominated by the third sector providers 

themselves to prepare the service specification although attendance was poor 

in some cases by their nominated representatives. 

 

The question about whether or not they agreed has not been answered. 

 

5 We now know that not being registered with the Care Inspectorate for the delivery 

of regulated services was a breach of the contract and that there was no such thing 

as a “technical” breach.  It was also stated that we were unable to ask in the tender 

if bidders were registered to deliver services in Argyll & Bute in case this 

discriminated against anyone not in Argyll & Bute. We find this somewhat baffling 

since the tender was specifically to deliver services in Argyll & Bute for which 

registration was a legal requirement. Our questions are: 

a. Why did the successful bidder not make it clear they were not yet registered to 

deliver these services given that it would have been a simple matter to have 

done this? 

The successful bidder is registered for these services with the Care 

Inspectorate but at the time of the tender not within Argyll and Bute. The 

response demonstrates that the provider had attained the requirements for 

registration and had a track record in those service areas. It is not unusual for 

an incoming service provider to an area to not have their registration at the 



time of bidding and to seek a variation to their existing registration to extend to 

the new area. 

Addaction should have replied accurately to the question in the tender return by saying 

that, while they had registration to operate these services elsewhere, they did not at that 

point have approval to do so in this area. They could then have added that the application 

to the Care Inspectorate was in hand. 

However, no application appears to have been made by Addaction until January 2015. We 

have seen correspondence that indicates that the Care Inspectorate knew nothing of 

Addaction’s work here until they found out by chance, in January, from one of the 3rd 

sector organisations who previously carried out this work. The fact remains that 

Addaction were in breach of the contract for around 2 months. 

The issue in relation to this contract is the relatively short lead in time prior to 

commencement which did not give enough time for Addaction to vary their 

registration and required the ADP to ensure alternative arrangements to be 

put in place if a need had arisen. 

 
We are surprised that nobody appears to have seen the dangers of such a short timescale 

well in advance. 

 
This was acknowledged  in both the internal review and later verified by Audit 

Scotland and will be picked up in the revision of the Procurement Manual. 

Addaction's delivery of community rehabilitation and counselling services 

which did not require a registration were unaffected by this issue. 

b. On what date did we establish with the Care Inspectorate that the successful 

bidder was not registered? 

The date of tender return as they were not registered in Argyll and Bute as 

they were not delivering services within Argyll and Bute at the time of 

tender submission.  Check carried out on Care Inspectorate registration and 

there was ongoing communication between supplier and the Care 

Inspectorate during variation process. 

 

When was the check carried out with the Care Inspectorate please? 

 

 

c. What did we do about it when we became aware of the breach? 

Contingency arrangements were in place had a care at home housing support 

service been needed. We liaised with both Addaction and the Care 

Inspectorate throughout to monitor progress towards the granting of the 

variation of Addaction's existing registration. 

 

What were the contingency arrangements please? 

 



d. Clause 57.1 of the ITT made it clear that: It is a condition of this contract that the 

Contractor must be registered with the Care Inspectorate to provide the 

appropriate care services within the Argyll and Bute locality.  The Contractor must 

continue to be registered with the Care Inspectorate throughout the duration of 

the contract Why did we allow the successful contractor to operate when there 

was such a clear breach of the contract? 

see answer to 5 (a) above 

We do not believe this question has been answered. 

 

To assist the other readers of this document, pasted below is the section of the successful 

tender return that deals with the registration issue: 

 

 

 

 

6 At the Audit Committee meeting we were told unequivocally that any out of hours 

service was a matter for the NHS. Why did the ITT specifically ask about the provision 

of this if it was never intended to be part of the tender? The part of the ITT being 

referred to is pasted below. Can we have confirmation from the NHS that they take 

full responsibility for the out of hours service? 

The committee were told unequivocally that out of hours emergency/crisis 

services were not part of the tender (they were not part of the previous 

contracts with the outgoing providers). That is the case and remains the role 

of the NHS. The question in the ITT relates to the ability of the provider to 

offer community rehabilitation and counselling services out with core hours to 

meet the needs of the service users.  Addaction also provide a helpline from 

8.00am to 8.00pm Monday to Friday which is manned by trained addictions 

staff. 

 

Our recollection is that at the audit committee meeting we asked about out of hours 

and the reply was about out of hours. Out of hours/crisis work seems the same to us. 

The helpline is limited and does not cover periods when problems typically occur such as 

at Christmas etc. 

 



 

 

7 Was the removal of the housing support work part of the query that went to the 

council’s external legal advisers? 

 

As stated above, I dealt with this as a Freedom of Information 

 

The reason this question was asked was because we assumed the legal advice would be 

denied to us. We cannot fathom why such a simple question cannot be responded to. 

 

8 Is it not the case that, with the removal of housing support services immediately 

after the contract started, the two 3rd sector organisations who did not submit a 

tender were severely disadvantaged (para 25 in AS report, text below.)? 

No- either organisation could have tendered for the contract, sought a 
registration for registered services and advanced their work on reviewing the 
nature of the service. This is effectively what Addaction did. 
 
The ITT focussed on housing support and it did not give a comprehensive description of an 
addiction service.  

 
Two third sector organisations have confirmed to us that they believed that the 
projected minimum levels of housing support detailed in the ITT would have to be in 
place for the first 2 years of the contract and that this would be too difficult to deliver 
within the price of the contract. They did not therefore submit tender applications.  

 

9 Why did Audit Scotland not take legal advice on the contract rather than the council? 

 

That would be a matter for Audit Scotland to respond to. 

We will be discussing this with Audit Scotland. 

 

 


